RECEIVED

Jul 08 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001430
Lower Case ¹ 2023-GS-32-01924 and 2023-GS-32-01925

The State, Respondent,

vs.

Clint Arthur Walker Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Rauch Wise
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
Rauchwise@gmail.com
SC Bar No. 6188

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the trial court err when it failed to permit defense counsel to question the investigating officer about two drug transactions that formed the basis for the search warrant for the residence of Clint Arthur Walker when Michael Sharpe made the two drug sales within two weeks of the search?

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

On January 27, 2022, the residence of Clint Arthur Walker was searched. A trafficking amount of methamphetamine was found. Mr. Walker was charged with trafficking methamphetamine more than 400 grams. He was also charged with possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime.

On May 8, 2023 he was indicted on the two charges. He was tried before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV and a jury on February 20-21, 2024. Mr. Walker did not appear for his trial. He was arrested on a bench warrant. On August 28, 2024 Judge McLeod sentenced him to 25 years imprisonment and ordered him to pay a total of \$427,733.25 in fines, costs and assessments.

On September 6, 2024 he filed his Notice of Appeal.

Factual History

On January 13 and 20 of 2022, law enforcement officers with the County of Lexington made two purchases of methamphetamine from the residence of Mr. Walker. The two purchases were made from Michael Sharpe. The purchases were videotaped and audio recorded. ROA at 32, ll 3-7. Based upon those two purchases, a search warrant was obtained. ROA at 32, ll 11-18.

The search of the house was conducted on January 27, 2022. Present at the house were Michael Sharpe, Carmen Cruz and Clint Walker ROA at 108, l 22 to 109, l 2. When asked about whether any methamphetamine or firearms were in the house, Mr. Walker advised them a firearm was present. ROA at 109, ll 16-22. The firearm was a .22 caliber pistol. ROA at 151, ll 24-25.

Prior to entering the house, law enforcement stopped Tommy Noell as he was leaving the residence. From Mr. Noell, the officer received information as to the location of methamphetamine in a secret place. ROA at 176, ll 9-15.

Upon entering the residence, the officers searched the three bedrooms. In the bedroom used by Mr. Sharpe, the officers found a safe containing around \$10,000 dollars. They also found needles that could be used for injecting drugs. ROA at 164, ll 4-7. The officer did not recall finding any drugs in Mr. Sharpe's room. ROA at 126, ll 22-24.

In the bedroom belonging to Mr. Walker, they found a purse belonging to Ms. Cruz. Inside the purse a small amount of methamphetamine. ROA at 114, l 21 to 115, l 12. They also found a pipe used for smoking methamphetamine. ROA at 113, ll 15-18. They also found the .22 caliber pistol. ROA at 114, ll 16-20. Upon his arrest, about \$2,000 was found in his possession. ROA at 139, ll 17-24.

Based upon the information received from Mr. Noell, the officer located a secret or hidden safe in the kitchen cabinet above the kitchen sink. ROA at 127, ll 7-13. The amount of methamphetamine found in this location totaled 1,624 grams. ROA at 200, ll 13-15. The officer also found a key card in the possession of Mr. Walker that could be used to open the electronic safe.¹ ROA at 139, l 25 to 140, l 10. When Mr. Noell was stopped as he was leaving the premises, he was searched but no inventory was taken of his wallet or car. ROA at 176, ll 9-21. The officer further admitted that when he stopped Mr. Noell, he did not know to look for a key card. ROA at 176, ll 22-24.

¹ The officer had broken into the safe before they found the key card in the possession of Mr. Walker.

Standard of Review

The standard of review is abuse of discretion as the case involves the admissibility of evidence. “In general, rulings on the admissibility of evidence are within the trial court's sound discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the complaining party.” *State v. Halcomb*, 382 S.C. 432, 443, 676 S.E.2d 149, 154 (Ct. App. 2009)

Argument

Did the trial court err when it failed to permit defense counsel to question the investigating officer about two drug transactions that formed the basis for the search warrant for the residence of Clint Arthur Walker when Michael Sharpe made the two drug sales within two weeks of the search?

The United States Supreme Court has said, “Whether rooted directly in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, or in the Compulsory Process or Confrontation clauses of the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution guarantees criminal defendants ‘a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.’” *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986)(internal citations omitted). South Carolina has also recognized the right to present a complete defense. “Every person accused shall, at his trial, be allowed to be heard by counsel, may defend himself and shall have a right to produce witnesses and proofs in his favor and to meet the witnesses produced against him face to face.” S.C. Code § 17-23-60. “Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury; to be fully informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to be fully

heard in his defense by himself or by his counsel or by both.” Art. I, § 14, Constitution of the State of South Carolina. *See, also* Mark J. Mahoney, *The Right to Present a Defense* at 122-139 (2024)²

In *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941) the South Carolina Supreme Court, in addressing the right to present testimony as to the guilt of a third party and quoting American Jurisprudence, stated:

[T]here must be such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or circumstances, as tends clearly to point out such other person as the guilty party. Remote acts, disconnected and outside the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for such a purpose. An orderly and unbiased judicial inquiry as to the guilt or innocence of a defendant on trial does not contemplate that such defendant be permitted, by way of defense, to indulge in conjectural inferences that some other person might have committed the offense for which he is on trial, or by fanciful analogy to say to the jury that someone other than he is more probably guilty.
Id. at ____, 16 S.E.2d at 535

As to third party guilt, this court has stated, “It is well-established that a criminal defendant’s offer of evidence concerning a third party’s commission of the charged crime ‘must be limited to such facts as are inconsistent with his own guilt and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence.’” *State v. Brooks*, 428 S.C. 618, 634, 837 S.E.2d 236, 244 (Ct. App. 2019). Under this standard, the trial judge erred as a matter of law in failing to admit the evidence as to Michael Sharpe twice selling methamphetamine from the residence of Clint Walker. These two sales were both within two weeks of the search of Mr. Walker’s residence. The proof of the other drug sales is not left to speculation. The two

² This paper can be found at www.harringtonmahoney.com/content/Publications/Mahoney%20-%20Right%20to%20Present%20a%20Defense%2012-30-2024.pdf (visited February 19, 2025)

sales from the house of Mr. Walker is a reasonable inference that Mr. Sharpe possessed the drugs in question and not Mr. Walker. These two prior drug sales tend to prove the drugs belong to Michael Sharpe.

The right to present a defense as to the testimony as to Mr. Sharpe is a right Clint Walker had. This is true whether the theory of admitting the evidence is based upon a claim of third party guilt or to simply prove the officers were at the house because of the actions of Mr. Sharpe and not Mr. Walker, to simply make it less likely Mr. Walker is guilty or any other reasonable theory which would tend to exonerate Mr. Walker.

In this case, the defense counsel, at a pre-trial conference, sought to question the officers about the probable cause for the search warrant. The probable cause was that the officers had made two undercover purchases of methamphetamine from Michael Sharpe at the residence of Clint Walker. ROA at 32, ll 3-18.

The State in opposition stated, "I would argue that is not relevant to the case in chief." ROA at 33, ll 19-20. He further stated, "I'm saying I don't know what the relevance for it would be in cross to explain the probable cause of the search warrant." ROA at 34, ll 7-9. He also stated, "I mean it just gets to the point of confusing the jury. We're not talking about controlled buys from Michael Sharpe." ROA at 38, ll 7-10. In an attempt to explain his claim that the evidence was confusing to the jury, the assistant solicitor argued, "Therefore, successfully creating a very confusing situation for the jury about different buys on different dates not related to this indictment." ROA at 39, ll 23-25. The point, apparently not understood by the State, is that defense counsel was not proving probable cause for a search. He was wanting to prove Mr. Sharpe was recently selling methamphetamine from the house. This Could lead the jury to

conclude the methamphetamine belonged to Mr. Sharpe.

The Minnesota Supreme Court in discussing third party guilt has stated, “The purpose of evidence to show that another committed the homicide is not to prove the guilt of the other person, but to generate a reasonable doubt of the guilt of the defendant.” *State v. Hawkins*, 260 N.W.2d 150, 158–59 (Minn. 1977). Introducing evidence that within two weeks before the search of the house another individual had actually sold methamphetamine from the house is some evidence that the methamphetamine found in the house did not belong to Clint Walker.

Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence defines relevant evidence as “[E]vidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” *See, also Assoc. Mgmt., Inc. v. E.D. Sauls Const. Co.*, 279 S.C. 219, 221, 305 S.E.2d 236, 237 (1983)(“Evidence which tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue and to bear directly or indirectly thereon is relevant.”) Under the facts of this case, the fact that Michael Sharpe, within two weeks before the search of the house and as the reason for the search of the house, twice sold methamphetamine, certainly makes it less likely or less probable that Clint Walker possessed the drugs. Who possessed the drugs was the sole issue in the case. The rule does not require that the evidence make a fact or the absence of that fact substantially more or less likely. The rule simply requires that the evidence have “any tendency” to make the possession of the methamphetamine by Clint Walker less likely. The evidence easily has some tendency to may it less likely.

Rule 401 is limited by Rule 403 which allows relevant evidence to be excluded on the basis that, “[I]ts probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice,

confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury” The other exceptions in the Rule simply do not apply to the present case. The State sought to exclude the testimony primarily on the grounds that the evidence would confuse the issues or mislead the jury. Neither is applicable. The trial judge originally ruled that defense counsel could have asked the questions about Michael Sharpe. He stated, “[B]ut generally speaking I don’t think what he’s talking about in that limited context on cross-examination runs afoul.” ROA at 38, ll 4-6. When the trial started, the trial judge changed his mind. He stated, “I don’t want a direct reference to probable cause. Okay. And I don’t want a direct reference to Mr. Sharpe being someone who purchased from a confidential informant at this time.”³ ROA at 83, ll 19-23.

In response to an extensive argument by defense counsel after this ruling, the State argued, “I think it confuses the issue to the jury to talk about any matter of law like probable cause for a search warrant that has already been ruled on. I think it confuses the issues because it is a different sale, not necessarily the same location of drugs, or anything like that. And I think it is fair cross-examination to say the search warrant was for the house and not for any individual. As for prejudice, because the jury is going to assume that something happened. Well, Mr. Stitely’s client is on trial for trafficking methamphetamine.” ROA at 86, ll 7-18. Apparently agreeing with the state, the trial judge then stated, “I do believe that there is an issue for confusion here should the jury hear the specifics about probable cause.” ROA at 87, ll 9-11. The judge was apparently referring to the “confusion of the issues” provision of Rule 403. He never stated exactly how the testimony as to Michael Sharpe making two drug sales to an informant would confuse the issues

³ The testimony had shown that Mr. Sharpe had not purchased from an informant, but had sold to the informant.

nor what the confusion would be.

The phrase “confusion of the issues” has not ever been defined. Our supreme court has defined the phrase “unfair prejudice” in Rule 403 as, “[A]n undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Dickerson*, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000). As used in the rule, “confusion of the issues” should have a similar meaning. If the evidence permits the jury to make a decision on an improper basis, obviously the jury was confused on the issues. The evidence defense counsel sought to introduce did not permit the jury to decide the case on an improper basis. The fact that Michael Sharpe, who stayed in the house, had twice sold methamphetamine from the house is some evidence that the drugs belonged to Mr. Sharpe. If the jury drew the same conclusion, it would be evidence that tended to prove the drugs did not belong to Mr. Walker. Even if one were to assume Mr. Walker knew the drugs were in the house that would not be sufficient to convict. Without the right to control the drugs, mere knowledge is not sufficient. *Goldsmith v. Witkowski*, 981 F.2d 697 (4th Cir. 1992)

If the jury believed because Mr. Sharpe twice sold drugs from the house and had a large sum of money at the house, they could believe that he possessed the drugs and not Mr. Walker. Finding Mr. Walker not guilty because there is evidence a third party is guilty is not deciding the case on an improper basis. In addition, the evidence of third party guilt does not have to prove the guilt of the third party beyond a reasonable doubt. The third party evidence need only create a doubt as to the guilt of Mr. Walker. The jury deciding the methamphetamine could have been Mr. Sharpe’s could have been a the basis for a reasonable doubt.

The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania discussed the issue of third party guilt in a somewhat similar case. “On March 21, 2017, United States Marshalls went to the home of appellant Eric

Yale's mother where Yale resided to serve an arrest warrant on Larry Thompson." *Commonwealth v. Yale*, 665 Pa. 635, 642, 249 A.3d 1001, 1005 (2021). In the bedroom used by Yale, they found an operating methamphetamine lab. They also found Thompson hiding in a closet in the room. "The Commonwealth alleged that Yale and Thompson were liable under both principal and accomplice theories of liability." *Id.* At 642, 249 A.3d at 1005. At his trial, "Yale sought to introduce evidence of Thompson's previous arrests for methamphetamine-related offenses, including an October 12, 2016 arrest and a November 3, 2015 guilty plea. Both incidents involved Thompson's use of the 'one-pot' method to manufacture methamphetamine." *Id.* at 642-43, 249 A.3d at 1005. The trial judge excluded the evidence.

In reversing the conviction the Pennsylvania Supreme Court conducted a thorough analysis of the uses of crimes to prove third party guilt. The court noted that prejudice is not a factor in admitting the evidence of the guilt of a third person. First, the court noted undue prejudice to the case of the prosecuting agency is not the type of prejudice with which a court should be concerned. The court noted, "[P]ermitting a defendant to present evidence that tends to negate the Commonwealth's ability to prove the case beyond a reasonable doubt is a prejudice demanded by the Due Process Clause." *Id.* at 667, 249 A.3d at 1919. The court then stated, "If the defendant is successful in raising a reasonable doubt as to guilt, the defendant will be exonerated but the third person offered as the perpetrator will not suffer a consequence." *Id.* at 667, 249 A.3d at 1020. Thus, under the analysis of the Pennsylvania excluding evidence based upon confusion of the issues does not mean confusing the jury as to the strength of the state's case. Due process would also prohibit the exclusion of third party guilt on that basis. The fact should be noted that the third party guilt evidence did not conclusively exclude Mr. Yale from being guilty. The

innocence of Mr. Yale was simply one inference that could be drawn from the facts he sought to introduce.

None of the above discussed principles go against the law of third party guilt established in *Gregory*. The evidence as to the two prior drug sales included a video recording of the sale. The fact of the two prior drug sales is not a matter of speculation. The State knows the evidence is true. If Mr. Sharpe possessed the drugs, then Mr. Walker did not. If the evidence had been admitted, the State could have argued they both possessed the drugs. And the jury may have believed that argument. But the issue as to what inferences or conclusions should be drawn from the testimony is for the jury to decide and not the trial judge nor this court on appeal.

The Ninth Circuit, quoting from John Henry Wigmore, *Evidence in Trials at Common Law* § 139 (Tillers rev. 1983) said, “[I]f the evidence [that someone else committed the crime] is in truth calculated to cause the jury to doubt, the court should not attempt to decide for the jury that this doubt is purely speculative and fantastic but should afford the accused every opportunity to create that doubt.” *United States v. Crosby*, 75 F.3d 1343, 1349 (9th Cir. 1996). Mr. Walker was not given every opportunity to create the doubt as to his guilt.