**RECEIVED**

**Jul 18 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Walton J. McCleod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001430

The State, .....Respondent,

v.

Clint Arthur Walker, .....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit  
205 East Main Street, Suite 309  
Lexington, South Carolina 29072  
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

In South Carolina, the admissibility of evidence of third-party guilt is governed by the rule set forth by our supreme court in *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941). See *State v. Cope*, 385 S.C. 274, 292-93, 684 S.E.2d 177, 186-87 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *State v. Gregory* as the rule governing admissibility of evidence of third-party guilt); *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 641–43, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299–300 (Ct. App. 2007) (affirming application of *State v. Gregory*). In *Holmes*, the United States Supreme Court articulated its approval of the rule adopted in *Gregory* for the admission of evidence of third-party guilt. *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 328. In *Gregory*, our supreme court explained:

[T]he evidence offered by accused as to the commission of the crime by another person must be limited to such facts as are inconsistent with his own guilt, and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence; evidence which can have (no) other effect than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible. . . . [B]efore such testimony can be received, there must be such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or circumstances, as tends clearly to point out such other person as the guilty party. Remote acts, disconnected and outside the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for such a purpose.

*Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 104-105, 16 S.E.2d 532 at 534-35 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Thus, it is well-established that a criminal defendant's offer of evidence concerning a third party's commission of the charged crime “must be limited to such facts as are inconsistent with his own guilt[ ] and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence.” *Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 104, 16 S.E.2d at 534. *Gregory* requires the trial judge to consider the probative value or the potential adverse effects of admitting proffered evidence of third-party guilt. *State v. Brooks*, 428 S.C. 618, 635, 837 S.E.2d 326, 245 (Ct. App. 2019); *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 641, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 329). In *Holmes*, the United States Supreme Court characterized the *Gregory* rule's purpose as focusing “the trial on the central issues by excluding evidence that has only a very weak logical connection to the central issues.” 547 U.S. at 330.

The *Holmes* court recognized that evidence of third-party guilt is appropriately managed by evidentiary rules such as Rule 403, SCRE. 547 U.S. at 327. Rule 403 states, “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, *confusion of the issues*, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014); *Brooks*, 428 S.C. at 635, 837 S.E.2d at 245. The appellate court reviews the circuit court's Rule 403 ruling pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and [is] obligated to give great deference to the [circuit] court's judgment. *Id.*

In the present case, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's request to elicit testimony about the prior sales. That evidence offered no reliable proof that Sharpe was the sole possessor of the meth found in the search. Instead, the testimony could only serve to “cast a bare

suspicion” as to Sharpe’s guilt as opposed to Appellant’s guilt. Even if Sharpe *also* possessed the meth, this would not be inconsistent with Appellant’s guilt and would not raise a reasonable inference of Appellant's innocence. Thus, it was clear to the trial court that Appellant had not presented the requisite “train of facts or circumstances” tending “clearly to point out [the] other person as the guilty party.” *Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 105, 16 S.E.2d at 535. Therefore, there are no exceptional circumstances warranting a reversal of the circuit court's exclusion of the prior drug sales from evidence. *See Collins*, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28 (“A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”).

To the contrary, our appellate courts have repeatedly addressed the *Gregory* standard in analyzing and affirming the exclusion of evidence of third-party guilt. *See, e.g., State v. Brown*, 437 S.C. 550, 569-70, 878 S.E.2d 364, 375 (Ct. App. 2022) (affirming the exclusion of evidence of third-party guilt in a robbery and murder case where: (1) “Brown presented no witnesses suggesting Felder claimed responsibility for the crimes nor otherwise offered evidence of Felder’s guilt to the exclusion of Brown,” and (2) “[o]ther than ‘bare suspicion’ and the close proximity of his home, there is simply no evidence to suggest Felder was the perpetrator here.”); *Brooks*, 428 S.C. at 637, 873 S.E.2d at 246 (affirming the exclusion of evidence of third-party guilt in a shooting case where Brooks “has not presented the requisite ‘train of facts or circumstances’ tending ‘clearly to point out [the] other person as the guilty party’”); *Burgess*, 391 S.C. at 23, 703 S.E.2d at 516 (affirming the exclusion of evidence of third-party guilt in a murder case where the testimony was remote and was not inconsistent with Burgess’ guilt); *State v. Rice*, 375 S.C. 302, 322, 652 S.E.2d 409, 419 (Ct. App. 2007) (affirming the exclusion of evidence of third-party guilt in a robbery and murder case where: (1) “[t]he record is void of

facts or circumstances, other than Bryant's inconsistent statements, linking anyone other than Rice to Brennan's murder" and (2) "[t]he proffered evidence casts a mere 'bare suspicion' on Nikki or Tiki and fails to connect either to the murder by way of the facts and circumstances surrounding the crime."), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011). Here, as in the cited cases, the trial court properly utilized and applied the *Gregory* standard in determining whether to allow the testimony about Sharpe's prior drug sales as evidence of third-party guilt. After allowing a proffer of the testimony, the trial court found the evidence was sufficiently disconnected to the trafficking charge so that admission would confuse the jury. Although not explicitly articulated, the trial court properly concluded the evidence would not show a reasonable inference of Sharpe's guilt, to the exclusion of Appellant, and therefore would not show a reasonable inference of Appellant's innocence. *See State v. Mansfield*, 343 S.C. 66, 86, 538 S.E.2d 257, 267 (Ct. App. 2000) ("Because the evidence was not inconsistent with [the defendant's] own guilt, the trial court exercised sound discretion in excluding it."). Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's request to question Kennedy about Sharpe's two drug transactions.

The evidence, though arguably relevant, did nothing to solely implicate Sharpe or demonstrate Appellant's innocence. Indeed, no evidence was produced that Sharpe possessed the meth seized during the search, to the exclusion of Appellant. As the Supreme Court stated in *Gregory*: "An orderly and unbiased judicial inquiry as to the guilt or innocence of a defendant on trial does not contemplate that such defendant be permitted, by way of defense, to indulge in conjectural inferences that some other person might have committed the offense for which he is on trial, or by fanciful analogy to say to the jury that someone other than he is more probably guilty." *Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 105, 16 S.E.2d at 535. The evidence of prior incidents involving

the sale of entirely different meth by Sharpe would be the epitome of “conjecture or surmise” if allowed into evidence to stand as a basis for third-party guilt related to the independent trafficking charge for which Appellant was on trial. As a result, the trial court properly excluded the evidence of third-party guilt, and that decision should be affirmed.

In his brief, Appellant argues that because “the two sales were both within two weeks of the search” and that proof of those sales “is not left to speculation,” it leads to “a reasonable inference that Mr. Sharpe possessed the drugs in question and not [Appellant].” He argues that regardless of the theory behind admitting the evidence, it would tend to exonerate him. (Brief of Appellant, p.5-p.6). However, as noted above, where the drugs found hidden in Appellant’s kitchen were **not** the same drugs possessed and sold by Sharpe on a completely separate occasion, the suggested inference is both weak and unreasonable. Indeed, this is precisely the kind of conjectural inference prohibited by *Gregory*. It is simply not proper to argue Sharpe could have been the person in sole possession of the meth unless there was a specific chain of facts and circumstances to satisfy the standards for third-party guilt. While Sharpe’s drug sales certainly linked Sharpe to the drugs sold on those dates, the record is void of facts or circumstances linking Sharpe—to the exclusion of Appellant—to the meth subsequently discovered in the kitchen safe. At best it could be construed as evidence that both Sharpe and Appellant possessed the meth, but not as evidence inconsistent with Appellant’s guilt.

Appellant next seems to rely on the definition of “relevant evidence” in the South Carolina Rules of Evidence in arguing the evidence of Sharpe’s drug sales could have: “[a tendency] to make the possession of the methamphetamine by [Appellant] less likely.” (Brief of Appellant, p.7). But, as recognized in *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 327, and *Brooks*, 428 S.C. at 635, 837 S.E.2d at 245, relevance is only the initial hurdle to admission of evidence of third-party guilt.

The rules allow even relevant evidence to be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury. Rule 403, SCRE. *See also, Commonwealth v. Rodriguez*, 321 A.3d 981, 982 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2024) (recognizing that even where third person guilt evidence is relevant, the proper inquiry is whether the probative value of that evidence is outweighed by any danger of ‘confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.’”).

Here, the trial court clearly concluded that admitting the drug sale testimony would lead to confusion of the issues. Appellant seeks to equate the “unfair prejudice” standard in Rule 403 [an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis] with the “confusion of the issues” standard, but these are two different parts of the Rule. A trial court’s discretionary ruling regarding “confusion of the issues” may be more akin to exclusion due to undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence, or perhaps more similar to a case where there is sufficient confusion to create *any tendency* to suggest a decision on an improper basis. Regardless, evidence which confuses the issues for the jury could certainly have an undue tendency to permit a decision on an improper basis. No matter the technicalities of the standard applied, the trial court was well within its wide discretion to exclude the evidence of third-party guilt under the circumstances of this case. Appellant argues that even if he knew the drugs were in the house it would not be sufficient to convict because: “without the right to control the drugs, mere knowledge is not sufficient.” (Brief of Appellant, p.9). The problem with that claim, however, is that the evidence at trial showed Appellant was the *only* person who had access to, and therefore the right to control, the drugs in question.

Also in his brief, Appellant relies on an opinion from the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania for support, noting that court “discussed the issue of third-party guilt in a somewhat similar case” which resulted in “reversing the conviction.” (Brief of Appellant, p.9-p.10). *Commonwealth v. Yale*, 249 A.3d 1001 (Pa. 2021). Yet in *Yale*, although the trial court *did* prohibit Yale from introducing third person guilt evidence upon finding it was irrelevant and would confuse the jury, that finding was based on cases which had announced a two-part admissibility test that includes a “signature crime” prong. *Id.* at 1005-06. Indeed, the trial court concluded the evidence would have confused the jury “by permitting the inference that being charged with a crime was itself suggestive of guilt” and by requiring “the holding of a trial within a trial.” *Id.* at 1006. Consequently, the appellate court’s discussion focused *entirely* on whether the third-party guilt evidence was improperly excluded by the trial court under a Rule 404(b) analysis—*not* a Rule 403 analysis. Indeed, the conviction was not simply reversed on grounds the evidence should have been admitted. Instead, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held: “We therefore reverse the order of the Superior Court affirming the trial court’s exclusion of Yale’s third person guilt evidence with instruction to remand to the trial court for a ruling on the admissibility of the third person guilt evidence pursuant to Pa.R.E. 401-403.” *Id.* at 1025. Here, the trial court made a ruling on the admissibility of Appellant’s third-party guilt evidence—finding “there is an issue of confusion here should the jury hear the specifics about probable cause.” Unlike in *Yale*, that ruling was *not* based on Rule 404(b), and instead falls clearly within the parameters established in *Gregory* and its progeny.

Furthermore, the relevant facts in *Yale*, which arguably weighed in favor of admitting third person guilt evidence under Yale’s own theory of defense, are simply not present here. As argued by Yale in support of admission, there was “no prior evidence linking him to drug

manufacture, and no fingerprint or other forensic evidence linking [him] to the contraband.” *Yale*, 249 A.3d at 1008. Here, there was a key card in Appellant’s possession which opened the hidden, locked safe, which directly linked him to the meth found in that safe, while no similar key card linked Sharpe to the meth. As also asserted by *Yale*, “he did not display a consciousness of guilt during the search,” whereas Thompson “displayed a consciousness of guilt by hiding in the closet during the search.” *Id.* at 1010. Here, the opposite circumstances were present. When Investigator Kennedy brought Appellant back inside the residence to ask if he knew of any meth being in the house, Appellant looked at Kennedy, then looked above the kitchen sink, and then back at Kennedy, all while breathing in a way indicating to Kennedy that Appellant knew the meth was present. (R.p.126-p.133). Also, after Appellant’s arrest, when the police found the key card in his wallet that could open the hidden safe in the kitchen, Appellant said: “obviously you knew the fucking card was in there.” (R.p.166-p.168). These behaviors displayed Appellant’s consciousness of guilt. There was no evidence of similar behaviors by Sharpe during or after the search. Thus, both the facts and the analysis in *Yale* fail to support Appellant’s position. As noted by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court: “Ultimately, the question is whether the evidence supports an inference that the defendant did not commit the crime and someone else did.” *Yale*, 249 A.3d at 1024. In Appellant’s case, the trial court’s decision to exclude the proposed third-party guilt evidence was proper where the facts did not support the inference that Appellant did not commit the crime and someone else did. Sharpe’s prior drug sales provide no evidence he possessed the meth found during the search, to the exclusion of Appellant. There was no error in the exclusion of the evidence of third-party guilt; therefore the convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

### Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Only errors so substantial that they result in a verdict which would not otherwise have been rendered require reversal. *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991). “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). “No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *Id.* at 447–48, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) ). A defendant seeking reversal based on error in admission or exclusion of evidence has the burden of showing that evidence or lack thereof was prejudicial. *State v. McElveen*, 280 S.C. 325, 327, 313 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1984).

The State submits any error in the exclusion of the testimony was harmless because admitting the third-party guilt evidence would have been insubstantial in view of the evidence presented of Appellant’s guilt, such that it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict). The State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt including the fact that the sole key card that accessed the meth discovered at the crime scene was in Appellant’s wallet, on his person. Although other people were in the house when the search was executed, none of them could access the meth. Given the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the State submits the absence of the speculative evidence of third-party guilt could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial,

and any error was harmless. *Byers*, 392 S.C. at 447-48, 710 S.E.2d at 243; *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict). Indeed, Appellant has not shown the requisite prejudice to support reversal of the convictions. *McElveen*, 280 S.C. at 327, 313 S.E.2d at 299. In view of the evidence adduced at trial, any possible errors arising from the exclusion of evidence of third-party guilt was harmless, and did not have an impact on the verdict. Therefore, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that Appellant's convictions and sentence be affirmed.